UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

, Individually and on Behalf of All
Others Similarly Situated,

Plaintiff,
V.

FTAI AVIATION LTD., JOSEPH P. ADAMS,
JR., and EUN (ANGELA) NAM,

Defendants.

Case No.

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT FOR
VIOLATIONS OF THE FEDERAL
SECURITIES LAWS

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL



Plaintiff  (“Plaintiff”), individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated, by
and through his attorneys, alleges the following upon information and belief, except as to those
allegations concerning Plaintiff, which are alleged upon personal knowledge. Plaintiff’s
information and belief is based upon, among other things, his counsel’s investigation, which
includes without limitation: (a) review and analysis of regulatory filings made by FTAI Aviation
Ltd. (“FTAI” or the “Company”) with the United States (“U.S.”) Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC”); (b) review and analysis of press releases and media reports issued by and
disseminated by FTAI; and (c) review of other publicly available information coficerniftg FTAL

NATURE OF THE ACTION AND OVERVIEW

1. This is a class action on behalf of persons and entities, that purchased or otherwise
acquired FTAI securities between July 23, 2024 and January 15, 2025, inclusive (the “Class
Period”). Plaintiff pursues claims against the Deféndants under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 (the “Exchange Act”).

2. FTAI owns and @Cquires” aviation and offshore energy equipment. It operates
through two segments, AyiationA easing and Aerospace Products. The Aviation Leasing segment
owns and manage$ aviation assets, including aircraft and aircraft engines, which it leases and sells
to customers. The Aerospace Products segment allegedly develops, manufactures, repairs, and sells
aircraft engines and aftermarket components for aircraft engines.

3. On January 15, 2024, at approximately 1:00 p.m. EST, investor research group
Muddy Waters Research published a report alleging, among other things, that “FTAI materially
manipulates its financials” by “exaggerating the size of its aftermarket aerospace business”,
“misleading investors by presenting whole engine sales as individual module sales”, “inflating

Aerospace Products’ EBITDA margins by means of over-depreciation in the leasing segment”, and

“engaging in channel stuffing” (the “Muddy Water Report”).



4. Specifically, the Muddy Waters Report alleges that the Company is “exaggerating
the size of its aftermarket aecrospace business” by “reporting one-time engine sales as Maintenance
Repair & Overhaul (MRO) revenue in its Aerospace Products (AP) segment” when, in fact, the
Company “performs limited repair and maintenance work on the engine assets sold.” The Muddy
Waters Report further alleges the Company is also “[m]isleading investors by presenting whole
engine sales as individual module sales” by “deceptively count[ing] each whole engine sale as,a
sale of three separate modules” in order to report substantially higher module sale numbers, than
would otherwise be reported and create “Module Factory numbers [which] are thuch\itigher than
what real [customer demand for the Factory] is.”

5. The Muddy Waters Report further alleges the Company’s “EBITDA margins are a
direct result of its misleading accounting” wherein the, Company “depreciates engines in its
Leasing segment, even when engines are not on lease (merely when they are ready for use).” The
Company “[t]hen it transfers the depreciated engines to AP Inventory.” These “high depreciation
rates in the Leasing segment help AP réport lower COGS. Because AP realizes lower COGS, it
reports a materially higher gross"margin than it would otherwise.”

6. Fifially, the Muddy Waters Report alleges the Company has “engag[ed] in channel
stuffing” by ‘selling two aircrafts in December 2023 to an intermediary in exchange for a
promissory note. This allowed the Company to book the value of the promissory note in the
Company’s full year 2023 financial report, when in fact, the Company did not actually sell those
aircrafts to a bona fide buyer until seven months later, in June 2024.

7. On this news, FTAI’s stock price fell $37.21, or 24.3%, to close at $116.08 per share

on January 15, 2025, on unusually heavy trading volume.



8. Throughout the Class Period, Defendants made materially false and/or misleading
statements, as well as failed to disclose material adverse facts about the Company’s business,
operations, and prospects. Specifically, Defendants failed to disclose to investors: (1) “FTAI
materially manipulates its financials” by ‘“exaggerating the size of its aftermarket aerospace
business”; (2) FTAI misleads “investors by presenting whole engine sales as individual module
sales”; (3) FTAI “inflat[es] Aerospace Products’ EBITDA margins by means of over-depreciatign
in the leasing segment”; (4) FTAI “engag[ed] in channel stuffing”; and (4) that, as a result of the
foregoing, Defendants’ positive statements about the Company’s business,opetations, and
prospects were materially misleading and/or lacked a reasonable basis.

9. As aresult of Defendants’ wrongful acts and omigSions,,and the precipitous decline
in the market value of the Company’s securities, Plaintiffiand{other Class members have suffered
significant losses and damages.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

10. The claims asserted” hereif arise under Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange
Act (15 U.S.C. §§ 78j(b)y and\78t(a)) and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder by the SEC (17
C.FR. § 240.10b¢5).

114 This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant to 28
U.S.€..§"1331 and Section 27 of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. § 78aa).

12. Venue is proper in this Judicial District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) and Section
27 of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. § 78aa(c)). Substantial acts in furtherance of the alleged fraud
or the effects of the fraud have occurred in this Judicial District. Many of the acts charged herein,
including the dissemination of materially false and/or misleading information, occurred in
substantial part in this Judicial District. In addition, the Company’s principle executive offices are

located in this District.



13. In connection with the acts, transactions, and conduct alleged herein, Defendants
directly and indirectly used the means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce, including the
United States mail, interstate telephone communications, and the facilities of a national securities
exchange.

PARTIES

14.  Plaintiff  , as set forth in the accompanying certification, incorporated by
reference herein, purchased FTAI securities during the Class Period, and suffered damages as a
result of the federal securities law violations and false and/or misleading statementS and/or material
omissions alleged herein.

15.  Defendant FTAI is incorporated under the laws-0f the/Cayman Islands with its
principal executive offices located in New York City, New\Yefk:” FTAI’s ordinary shares trade on
the NASDAQ exchange under the symbol “FTAK

16.  Defendant Joseph P. AdamisJr. (“Adams”) was the Company’s Chief Executive
Officer (“CEQ”) at all relevant tiries.

17.  Defendant/Eun‘(Ahgela) Nam (“Nam”) was the Company’s Chief Financial Officer
(“CFO”) at all rel€vatit times.

18, “\Defendants Adams and Nam (together, the “Individual Defendants”), because of
their posttions with the Company, possessed the power and authority to control the contents of the
Company’s reports to the SEC, press releases and presentations to securities analysts, money and
portfolio managers and institutional investors, i.e., the market. The Individual Defendants were
provided with copies of the Company’s reports and press releases alleged herein to be misleading
prior to, or shortly after, their issuance and had the ability and opportunity to prevent their issuance
or cause them to be corrected. Because of their positions and access to material non-public

information available to them, the Individual Defendants knew that the adverse facts specified



herein had not been disclosed to, and were being concealed from, the public, and that the positive
representations which were being made were then materially false and/or misleading. The
Individual Defendants are liable for the false statements pleaded herein.

SUBSTANTIVE ALLEGATIONS

Background

19. FTAI owns and acquires aviation and offshore energy equipment. It operates
through two segments, Aviation Leasing and Aerospace Products. The Aviation Leasing Segment
owns and manages aviation assets, including aircraft and aircraft engines, which iteases and sells
to customers. The Aerospace Products segment allegedly develops, manufactuces, repairs, and sells
aircraft engines and aftermarket components for aircraft engines,

Materially False and Misleading

Statements Issued During the'Class Period

20. The Class Period begins onduly 23, 2024. On that day, the Company announced its
second quarter 2024 financial results i a press release for the period ended June 30, 2024. The
press release reported the~ &6mpany’s financial results and touted the Company’s business
highlights, including\titat Aerospace Products reached a “new Adjusted EBITDA high of $91.2mm
for 02”1 The press release stated that the Company “utilizes Adjusted EBITDA as our key
perfermance measure” as it “provides the CODM [Chief Operating Decision Maker| with the
ihformation necessary to assess operational performance, as well as make resource and allocation
decisions.” The press release also purported to report the Company’s relevant key finanical metrics

including: adjusted EBITDA, aerospace products revenue, maintenance revenue, asset sales

! Unless otherwise stated, all emphasis in bold and italics hereinafter is added, and all footnotes
are omitt



revenue, lease income cost of sales, the value of leasing and inventory assets, depreciation and

amortization expenses. Specifically, the press release stated, in relevant part:

Selected Financial Eesults Q2724
Net Loss Attributable to Shareholders £ (228205
Bazic Loss per Ordinary Share 5 (2.26)
Diluted Loss per Ordinary Share 5 (2.26)
Adjusted EBITDA(L) $ 213004
* * *
Business Highlights

 Aerospace Products reaches new Adjusted EBITDA high of $91.2mnt"for\Q2.

* FTAI has inducted 20 V2500 engines year to date and expe€ts.to,induct an
additional 30 by year end.

* FTAI’s Module Factory™ now has over 50 active customers ' worldwide.

* * *
Three Months Ended June
30,
2024 2023
Revenues
Lease income _ ( om $ 70,754 § 59541
Maintenance venue, 51,187 42,065
Asset salef Tevenpe 72,433 76,836
Aerospace\products revenue 245200 92725
Othepfevanue 4,020 3,178
;I'o‘tal TEVENUES 443,504 274,345
Expenses
Cost of sales 205,857 104,532
Operating expenses 20,099 24,797
General and administrative 2,009 3,188
Acquisition and transaction expenses 8.019 2672
Management fees and incentive allocation to
affiliate 3,554 5,563
Internalization fee to affiliate 300,000 —
Depreciation and amortization 56,601 38514
Aszet impairment — —
Interest expense 55,196 38,409
Total expenses 661,385 217,765
* * *



Assets
Cash and cash equivalents § 169,485

Restricted cazh 150
Accounts receivable, net 154,051
Leasing equipment, net 2,202,866
Property, plant, and equipment, net 33,078
Investments 19,886
Intangible assets, net 42,138
Goodwill 4,630
Inventory, net 373,282
Other assets 449,686
Total assets $ 3,449.252
%k %k %k

Key Performance Measures

The Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM?”) utilizes Adjusted EBITDA as-our
key performance measure.

Adjusted EBITDA provides the CODM with the information necessary to assess
operational performance, as well as make resource and  allgcation decisions.
Adjusted EBITDA is defined as net income (loss) attributable %6 shareholders from
continuing operations, adjusted (a) to exclude the impaef‘of provision for income
taxes, equity-based compensation expense, acquisition and transaction expenses,
losses on the modification or extinguishment 0f debt and capital lease obligations,
changes in fair value of non-hedge detivative instruments, asset impairment
charges, incentive allocations, depre¢iation and amortization expense, dividends on
preferred shares, and interest expense, internalization fee to affiliate, (b) to include
the impact of our pro-rata sharé,of Adjusted EBITDA from unconsolidated entities,
and (c) to exclude the fmpact of equity in earnings (losses) of unconsolidated
entities and the nop=controlling share of Adjusted EBITDA.

21. On Atigust, 972024, the Company provided an earnings supplement in conjunction
with the Company?s second quarter 2024 financial report. The earnings supplement reported the
Company’s purported Aviation Leasing and Aerospace Products segment EBITDAs and further
reported additional key metrics for the Company’s Aerospace Products segment, including that the
Company “sold 82 CFM56 modules.” Specifically, the earnings supplement stated, in relevant

part:



Financial Results Overview
$s in millions Q22024

Business Segment Highlights

1) Aviation Leasing: Net Income Attributable to Shareholders $(228.2)
Avlation Leasing:
Internalization Fee to Affiliate $300.0
= million Q2 2024 Adj. EBITDAI2) comprised of-
Net Income Excluding Internalization Fee $718
- $111 5 million Leasing Adj. EBITDA
Adj_ EBITDAR
- $13.5 million Gains on Sales
Aviation Leasing $125.0
2) Aerospace Products:
Aerospace Products $91.2
= i (2)
Quarterly Adj. EBITDA growth versus Q2 2023 Corporate & Other $(2.3)
= Sold 82 CFM56 modules in Q2 2024 ETAl Gonsolidated $213.9

{$5 in millions)

Consolidated Key Financial Metrics

Quarter Over Quarter Results Q223 Q124 Q2'24 Balance Sheet & Liquidity un 30, 2024
Aviation Leasing $121.2  $1048 $125.0 Cash 31696
34.7 70.3 912
Aerospace Products $ $ $ Net Leasing Equip $2.202.9
Corporate & Other $(2.8) $(11.0) $(2.3)
Other Ass&te $1,076 8

Adjusted EBITDAM $153.1 $164.1 $213.9

- - $3,449.3
Depreciation & Amortization $(48.9) $(59.1) $(65.8)
Interest Expense $(385)  $(47.7) $30776
Other3! $(19.3) $(26.0) $69.6
Net Income (Loss) 4 . 31472
Attributable to Shareholders $46.4 $31.3 Total Debt + Total Equity $3, .

S
Aerospa 0 %
Hi gh?ht ey Metrics

Aerospace Products Margin
I

Q2'23

Q124

Q224

+ 82 modules sold in Q2 2024 Total Revenue $927 $1891 §2452

« Consistently generating Adj. EBITDA margins of between 30% - 40% Adj. EBITDA® $347 $703  $912
V * 06/30 Engine parts inventory of $373.3mm to support backlog Adj. EBITDA Margin %2 37% 37% 37%

Aerospace Products Performance
(35 in millions)
Statement of Operations 0223 0323 Q423 Q124 | Q224 Adj. EBITDA®Y
v
- $91
Total Revenue $927 $1187 $1585 $189.1 | $2452 S 180%
Total Expenses $(585) $(764) $(110.3) $(119.6) | $(154.8) 7 $70
-~ $55

Other® 509)  $(10)  $324  $31) | $65) " 543

Net Income Attributable to $35

Shareholders $333  $413  §806  $664 | $849 . .

Adjusted EBITDA® $347 $433 $546 $703 | $912 Q223 Q323 Q423 Q124 Q224




22.

On August 9, 2024, the Company submitted its quarterly report for the period ended

June 30, 2024 on a Form 10-Q filed with the SEC, affirming the previously reported financial

results (the “2Q24 10-Q”). The 2Q24 10-Q further set out the manner in which the Company

allegedly disaggregates revenues, stating in relevant part:

Asset sales revenue—Asset sales revenue primarily consists of the transaction price
related to the sale of aircraft and aircraft engines from our Aviation Leasing
segment. From time to time, the Company may also assign the related lease
agreements to the customer as part of the sale of these assets. We routinely sell
leasing equipment to customers and such transactions are considered recurring and
ordinary in nature to our business. As such, these sales are accounted for within the
scope of ASC 606. Revenue is recognized when a performance obligation”is
satisfied by transferring control over an asset to a customer. Revenue is recorded
with corresponding costs of sales, presented on a gross basis.

* * *

Aerospace products revenue—Aerospace produgts\revehue primarily consists of
the transaction price related to the sale of repaiked CFM56-7B, CFM56-5B and
V2500 engines, engine modules, spare parts and used material inventory, and are
accounted for within the scope of AS€\606. Revenue is recognized when a
performance obligation is satisfied by transferring control over the related asset to
a customer. Revenue is recordéd with corresponding costs of sales, presented on a
gross basis. Aerospace products’revenue also consists of engine management
service contracts, whete the’ Company has a stand-ready obligation to provide
replacement CFM56-7Bsand CFM56-5B engines to customers as they become
unserviceabledugingthe contract term. The Company recognizes revenue over time
using a stfaight-line attribution method and the costs related to fulfilling the
perfopman€e obligation are expensed as incurred.

28, The 2Q24 10-Q further described the purported nature of the Company’s revenue,

stating in relevant part:

Revenues
Comparison of the three months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

» Total revenue increased $17.1 million driven by an increase in Lease income and
Maintenance revenue, partially offset by a decrease in Asset sales revenue.

* Lease income increased $12.6 million primarily due to an increase in the number
of aircraft and engines placed on lease during the year, partially offset by an
increase in the number of aircraft and engines redelivered.



» Maintenance revenue increased $9.1 million primarily due to an increase in the
number of aircraft and engines placed on lease and higher aircraft and engine
utilization.

* Asset sales revenue decreased $4.4 million primarily due to a decrease in the sale
of commercial aircraft and engines.

24. On October 30, 2024, the Company issued a press release announcing its third
quarter 2024 financial results in a press release for the period ended September 30, 2024. The press
release reported the Company’s financial results and touted the Company’s business highlights,
including earnings of “over $100 million Adjusted EBITDA in Aerospace Products.”\\['he press
release maintained that the Company “utilizes Adjusted EBITDA as our key/performance
measure” as it “provides the CODM [Chief Operating Decision Maker§=with the information
necessary to assess operational performance, as well as make, régotirce and allocation decisions.”
The press release also purported to report the Company?s reélfevant key finanical metrics including:
adjusted EBITDA, aerospace products revenuegsmaifitenance revenue, asset sales revenue, lease
income cost of sales, the value of lesingh\and inventory assets, depreciation and amortization

expenses. Specifically, the preSs release stated, in relevant part:

Seleeted Einancial Results Q324
MehJficome Attributable to Shareholders $ 78147
BazicEamings per Ordinary Share % 0.76
Diluted Eamings per Ordinary Share % 0.76
Adjusted EBITDA(L 5 232,030
* * *
Business Highlights

» FTAI reports over $100 million Adjusted EBITDA in Aerospace Products.

* * *

10



Revenues

Leaze income

Maintenance revenue

Asz=zet sales revenue
Aerospace products revenue
Dither revenue

Total revenues

Expenses

Cost of sales

Operating expenses
General and administrative

Acquisition and transaction expenses
Management fees and incentive allocation

to affiliate
Internalization fee to affiliate
Depreciation and amortization
Aszzet impairment
Interest expense
Total expenses

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Restricted cash

Accounts receivable, net (
Leasing equipment, net

Property, plant, and equipment, ndf_m,
Investments

Intangible assets, net oy N o
Assets held for sale

Goodwill P \\ } ‘
Inventory, nét

Other asfets
Totalassets

Key Performance Measures

The Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM?”) utilizes Adjusted EBITDA as

our key performance measure.

Adjusted EBITDA provides the CODM with the information necessary to assess
operational performance, as well as make resource and allocation decisions.
Adjusted EBITDA is defined as net income (loss) attributable to shareholders from
continuing operations, adjusted (a) to exclude the impact of provision for income
taxes, equity-based compensation expense, acquisition and transaction expenses,
losses on the modification or extinguishment of debt and capital lease obligations,
changes in fair value of non-hedge derivative instruments, asset impairment

A RS

Three Months Ended September 30,

2024 2023
3 65,450 5 45,622
59,017 63,925
34,953 61,400
303,469 118,675
2,005 1,474
465,794 291,096
219,496 116,707
26,858 33,887
4,045 3,013
9,341 4,261
\
_ oG
56,775 ( ~43o50
579319\ J 40,185
I A5 246,591
* *

September 30, 2024 December 31, 2023

<, O $

111,388 90,756
150 150
166,338 115,156
2,066,337 2,032,413
103,605 45,175
19,448 22,722
38,001 50,590
119,012 —
31,533 4,630
490,907 316,637
501,601 286,456
s 3,738910 § 2,964,685

11



charges, incentive allocations, depreciation and amortization expense, dividends on
preferred shares, and interest expense, internalization fee to affiliate, (b) to include
the impact of our pro-rata share of Adjusted EBITDA from unconsolidated entities,
and (c) to exclude the impact of equity in earnings (losses) of unconsolidated
entities and the non-controlling share of Adjusted EBITDA.

25. On October 30, 2024, the Company provided an earnings supplement in
conjunction with the Company’s third quarter 2024 financial report. The earnings supplement
reported the Company’s purported Aviation Leasing and Aerospace Products segment EBITDA
results, as well as key metrics for the Company’s Aerospace Products segment, including”that the
Company’s “Annual Shop Visit Capacity for 1,350 CFM56 Modules”. Specifically,\the earnings

supplement stated, in relevant part:

Financial Resulis Overview

‘ Business Segment Highlights ‘ $s in millions Q3 2024

1) Aviation Leasing:

m g Bttributable to Shareholders $78.1

. million Q3 2024 Adj. EBITDA® comprised of: AfjEBITDA)
- $122 2 million Leasing Adj. EBITDA N Aviation Leasing $136.4
- $14.2 million Gains on Sales
Aerospace Producis $101.8
2) Aerospace Products:
Corporate & Other $(6.2)
= Generated Revenue of % million
- Quarterly Adj. EBITDA Siowthwersus Q3 2023 FTAI Consolidated $232.0
% k %

Consolidated Key Financial Metrics

(8sh millions)

SeoeE e 03.23 02’24 03‘24

Aviation Leasing $1169  $1250 | $1364 Cash $112.0
Aerospace Products $433 $91.2 $101.8
pa Net Leasing Equipment $2,066.3
Corporate & Other $(6.0) $(2.3) $(6.2)
Other Assets $1,560.6
Adjusted EBITDA™ $154.2 $2139 $2320
. I Total Assets $3,7329
Depreciation & Amortization §(59.4) $(65.8) $(69.5)
Interest Expense $40.2)  §(552) | $(57.9) Total Debt? $32183
Others! $(21.6) $(321.0)¢ | $(26.5) Total Equity $1185
Met Income (Loss) " a 3 3368
T YT R $330  $(228.2) $78.1 Total Debt + Total Equity $3,
% % %



Aerospace Products
Highlights & Key Metrics

Aerospace Products Margin 3123 2194 324
+ 0224 Total Revenue growth of 155.7% versus Q3 2023 (5 i mifions) Q Q Q
« Annual Shop Visit Gapacity for 1,350 GFM56 Modules Total Revenue $1187 $2452 $3035
* Consistently generating Ad). EBITDA margins of between 30% - 40% Adj. EBITDA™ $433 $912  $1018
» 09/30 Engine parts inventory of $491.0mm to support backlog Adj. EBITDA Margin %'? 36% 37% 34%

Aerospace Products Performance
($s in millions)
Statement of Operations Q323 Q423 Q124 Q224 | Q324 Adj. EBITDAIY L
-~ $102
Total Revenue $1187 $1585 $1891 $2452 | $3035 +137%
Total Expenses $(76.4) $(1103) $(1196) $(154.8) | $(204.8)
Other' $(1.0)  $324  $(31) %55 | $49)
) $43

Net Income Attributable to
Shareholdors $413  $806  $664  $349 | $938
Adjusted EBITDA™ $43.3 $54.6 $70.3 $91.2 | $101.8 Q3 23 Q498 Q124 Q224 Q324

26. On November 12, 2024, the Company submittéd its quarterly report for the period
ended September 30, 2024 on a Form 10-Q filedwith the SEC, affirming the previously reported
financial results (the “3Q24 10-Q”). The3@24 10-Q set out the manner in which the Company
purportedly disaggregates revenues, stating in relevant part:

Asset sales revenue—Asset sales revenue primarily consists of the transaction price
related to the” sale=of aircraft and aircraft engines from our Aviation Leasing
segment.¢From time to time, the Company may also assign the related lease
agreements,to the customer as part of the sale of these assets. We routinely sell
ledsing-equipment to customers and such transactions are considered recurring and
ordinary in nature to our business. As such, these sales are accounted for within the
scope of ASC 606. Revenue is recognized when a performance obligation is
satisfied by transferring control over an asset to a customer. Revenue is recorded
with corresponding costs of sales, presented on a gross basis.

* * *

Aerospace products revenue—Aerospace products revenue primarily consists of the
transaction price related to the sale of CFM56-7B, CFM56-5B and V2500 engines,
engine modules, spare parts and used material inventory, and are accounted for
within the scope of ASC 606. Revenue is recognized when a performance
obligation is satisfied by transferring control over the related asset to a customer.
Revenue is recorded with corresponding costs of sales, presented on a gross basis.
Aerospace products revenue also consists of engine management service contracts,

13



where the Company has a stand-ready obligation to provide replacement CFM56-
7B and CFM56-5B engines to customers as they become unserviceable during the
contract term. The Company recognizes revenue over time using a straight-line
attribution method and the costs related to fulfilling the performance obligation are
expensed as incurred.

217. The 3Q24 10-Q further described the purported nature of the Company’s revenue,
stating in relevant part:

Revenues
Comparison of the three months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023
Total revenues increased by $174.7 million, driven by the following:

 Aerospace products revenue increased by $184.8 million, primarily due to a
$164.3 million increase in CFM56-7B, CFM56-5B and V2500 enging’and module
sales, a $9.6 million increase in parts inventory sales, and ‘ether sales revenue of
$7.7 million from the QuickTurn and LMCES acquisitions

* Lease income increased by $19.8 million, ptimacily due to increases in aircraft
lease revenue of $10.0 million, engine leasefevenue of $7.2 million, and a decrease
in lease incentive amortization of $4.1 millien. Aircraft and engine revenue both
increased due to an increased number of,assets on lease in Q3 2024 compared to
Q3 2023. This was partially offsefby a decrease of $1.5 million in the Offshore
Energy business driven by one of our vessels in the Offshore Energy business
having fewer days on-hire4m2024 compared to 2023.

* Asset sales revenug decreased by $26.4 million, primarily due to an overall
decrease in, the.-nuniber of sales transactions of commercial aircraft and engines.
Specificallys one aircraft was sold in Q3 2024 as compared to one aircraft and eight
engings sold in Q3 2023.

*, Maintenance revenue decreased by $4.0 million. Aircraft maintenance revenue
decreased by $14.8 million from Q3 2023 to Q3 2024, due to $18.2 million of
higher maintenance reserves taken into revenue in Q3 2023, partially offset by an
increased number of aircraft on lease in Q3 2024 generating maintenance revenue
as compared to Q3 2023. This decrease in aircraft maintenance revenue was
partially offset by increased engine maintenance revenue of $10.8 million, driven
by an increased number of engines on lease in Q3 2024 generating maintenance
revenue as compared to Q3 2023.

28. The 3Q24 10-Q reported, for the first time, the following disclosure:
Cash Flow Presentation—Included in net cash (used in) provided by operating

activities are inflows from the sale of engine modules and parts that were on engines
originally purchased and reported as Leasing equipment, net on the Consolidated

14



Balance Sheet. The purchase of the original engine was reported as an outflow in
net cash used in investing activities at the time of purchase through the Acquisition
of leasing equipment line item. As part of the Aerospace products business, the
Company breaks down generally unserviceable engines with the intent to
manufacture modules and parts for creation and sale of new assets. To manufacture
the modules and parts and bring them into a salable condition, the Company spends
significant costs, often over multiple reporting periods, for new inventory and
capitalizable labor (e.g., engineering) that are included in net cash (used in)
provided by operating activities as components of the changes in the related
working capital accounts.

Therefore, when the costs to manufacture the assets are greater than
(predominant to) the estimated value transferred from Leasing equipment intd
inventory, the related cash receipt has been recorded as an inflow in net _cash
(used in) provided by operating activities.

29. The above statements identified in 99 20-28 were mhaterially false and/or
misleading, and failed to disclose material adverse facts about the.Eompany’s business, operations,
and prospects. Specifically, Defendants failed to disclose\to™investors: (1) “FTAI materially
manipulates its financials” by “exaggerating the,size of its aftermarket aerospace business”; (2)
FTAI misleads “investors by presenting whole engine sales as individual module sales”; (3) FTAI
“inflat[es] Aerospace Products’ EBITDA  margins by means of over-depreciation in the leasing
segment”; (4) FTAI “engdg[ed) in channel stuffing”; and (4) that, as a result of the foregoing,
Defendants’ positives§tatéments about the Company’s business, operations, and prospects were
materially, misleading and/or lacked a reasonable basis.

Disclosures at the End of the Class Period

30. On January 15, 2024, at approximately 1:00 p.m. EST, investor research group
Muddy Waters Research published a report alleging, among other things, that “FTAI materially
manipulates its financials” by “exaggerating the size of its aftermarket aerospace business”,
“misleading investors by presenting whole engine sales as individual module sales”, “inflating

Aerospace Products’ EBITDA margins by means of over-depreciation in the leasing segment”, and

“engaging in channel stuffing.” Specifically, the Muddy Waters Report states, in relevant part:
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How FTAI Materially
Manipulates Its Financials

We believe:
= FTAl is exaggerating the size of its aftermarket aerospace business
« Misleading investors by presenting whole engine sales as individual module
sales
- Inflating Aerospace Products’ EBITDA margins by means of over-depreciation in
the leasing segment
- Engaging in channel stuffing \
« Facing fundamental headwinds

MRIDO'Y WATERS RESEARCH

31.  The Muddy Waters Report alleges that the Company'@x@r;ting the size of its
aftermarket aerospace business” by “reporting one-time enf?\%%s as Maintenance Repair &
Overhaul (MRO) revenue in its Aerospace Produc gment” when, in fact, the Company
“performs limited repair and maintenance work“on the engine assets sold.” The Muddy Waters
Report quotes a consultant and form ecutive who stated “FTAI apparently did not perform
significant repairs or upgrac@%ese engines.” The Muddy Waters Report explains that, by
reporting sales in thi er, the Company can “dress-up” its leasing business to portray an
attractive ae@ segment business, essentially “bolting on limited maintenance and repair
capalfa@’ to the Company’s leasing segment, and reporting it as a separate Aerospace Products

ent, as part of a “Financial Engineering Scheme.” Specifically, the Muddy Waters Report

states, in relevant part:

16



FTAI Materially Manipulates Its Financials WATERS

RESEARCH

Muddy Waters is short FTAI Aviafion Lid. (FTAI US) because itz financial reporfing is highly misleading. We believe revenue from true maintenance
and individual off-the-rack module sales are materially lower than reported. FTAL in our view, is misleading investors by reporting one-fime engine
sales as Maintenance Repair & Overhaul (MR} revenue in its Aerospace Products (AF) segment. it appears that FTAI's AP revenue growih story
due to trading whole engines (i.e., asset sales). We estimate ~80% of FTAl's Aerospace Products adjusted EBITDA s gains on sale, which we
believe iz largely from selling whole engines. The goal of these misrepreseniations appears fo be Io generaie a valuafion matenally greater than
that of a leazing buziness. Foriress sold significant stock ima May 2024 secondary offering on the back of FTAFs migleading namative.

FTAI claims that the average Aerospace Products transaction is hwo modules.! We disagree. We think ~70% to 30% of module sales are whole
engine zales. To exaggerate the size of its MRO business, reporiedly FTAI deceptively counts each whole engine sale as a sale of three separate
modules. As of Q3 2024, FTAI no longer discloses how many modules it sells per quarter. We believe thiz omission helps FTAI preserve its
aercspace aftermarket story. Ultimately, in our view, Aercspace Products is simply a dressed-up leasing business. Substantially all leasing
companies frade assels; and, given its inherent cyclicality, engine trading income is highly volafile. We see nothing durable or proprietary about
trading engines.

Evidence suggests that FTAI stuffed the channel through guestionable aircraft sales in 2023.
Our analysis finds that FTAPs current EBEITDA margin run-rate is not sustainable. FTAI's outlier EBITDA margins appear to be due to an amm&
or

game FTAl plays whereby it depreciates engines in its Leasing segment, even when engines are not on lease (merely when they are re
uze). Then it transfers the depreciated engines to AP Inventory. FTAPs AP Inventory has been largely comprised of depreciaied Leasing
Equipment, which results in considerable margin outperformance compared to peers. FTAI generaies EBITDA margins that are ~1
pointz higher than peers, including Boeing (~18% EBIT margin)® and GE Commercial Engines and Services (~27% EBITDA m, ),
which have considerably greater scale. This mirage benefits selling insiders. %

"FTAl Aviation @ 2024 Eamnings Call Apdl 28, 2024, Per FTAl's CEQ: "Sa, but on avenage, the avemags transacton sverages oot io bwo modules per transecion.”, 2 's Asrospa roduds reparts minimal
DAA allowing for this comparison.

WUIDOY WATERS RESEARCH 0 L
*

il
Approximately One-Third of Aerospace Pr TD 2024 Revenue SERRSIEE
Appears to Really Be Whole Engine Sal t Module Swaps RESEARCH
MW engaged an industry expert with 20+ years of experie wholg also a former FTAl execulive, o canvass the major aerospace

*  FTAIl has likely sold ~70 whole engines Illmughl nine months of 2024, which are counted as three modules per engine, and
likely account for ~80% of reported mudu 10 reported module sales are actually ~70 whole engines):

"FTAl is roughly selling 22 CFM[- SE] 5 {l e., Narrowbody engines) a quarier. They've sold 82 fo date [2024], and they still

assel traders to determine the magnitude of FTAI's w jz e sales. The research findings are below:

have some closing before the . I called all the major [fraders], all the big guys... I'm averaging arcund that 22 a

quanter."

*  FTAl is currently acfively rn whole engines:
"It looks like they' 1+) n aruund 90 for the year [2024], maybe a couple more than that... They're marketing a whole bunch
right now to t ome year-end sales in...| know right now they are trying to sell 10 or 12 engines.. they could get [to] 100
engines fi

‘ tperfnrrn significant repairs or upgrades of these engines:
- ally had a lot of touch werk done by FTAL..™

ine sales are geiting done as exchanges or swaps:

ey're doing a lot of the deals as exchanges, which makes sense. They're selling a good engine and taking in an
nserviceable engine... They're selling three modules and taking in three modules.™!

"I've got the 10-G right now...they've got one narrowbody [engine] sale all year... and actually the [tfrue] number is closer to the

purchase numbers...they could be recording the [engine] exchanges as purchases (ie. Engine being received in the exchange is
disclosed as a purchase)." !
T Consultant A,

MDD WATERS REZEARCH &
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Our Consultant, A Former FTAl Executive, Relays How the MRO
Was Born of a Financial Engineering Scheme

RESEARCH

Our consultant explained that FTAl was a traditional leasing platform that was valued on a P/B basis.
Management saw an opportunity by changing the narrative to aerospace. Management perceived that if FTAI
were considered to be an MRO, it would trade on a multiple of EBITDA.

To do so FTAI first undertook seemingly cosmetic changes by bolting on limited maintenance and repair
capabilities and picking up spare parts and feedstock on the market. It entered into a basic MRO contract with
Lockheed and marketed it as the Module Factory.

FTAl then entered a consignment agreement with AAR and called it the USM business (used serviceable %

material - 2™ hand paris). «

Last, it bought LLP (life limited parts — spare parts) on the market for feedstock.! @
CX
FTAIl in Q3 2024 Introduced a New Ca Disclosure That

Implies Aerospace Products G‘-&ne@llyr dds Little Value to
Assets Sold

ul DD
WATERS

RESEARCH

In FTAI's Q3 2024 10-Q, @intmduced this disclosure for the first time (see Appendix
far full excerpt): \2 )

“When the {S\to manufacture the assets are greater than (predominant to) the estimated
value t ed from Leasing equipment into inventory, the related cash receipt has been

@ﬂ an inflow in net cash (used in) provided by operating activities "

erospace Products income on the Operating or Investing side of the Cash Flow Statement

Ap tor spoke with FTAL FTAI confirmed that the new language indicates that the test to
re
Vﬁ::mined by the amount of capitalized costs to the assets while held in Inventory.

TFTAIO3-2024 10-0 pg 13,

WWNDOY WATERS RESEARCH 23
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Aerospace Products Is a Dressed-Up Leasing Business

RESEARCH

= As we show, the primary function ofAerospaoe Products appears to be to sell or exchange whole engines
(not individual modules).

- Substantially all leasing companies sell, trade, and exchange, engines / aircraft.
+ We believe as little as 20% of Aerospace Products volume is true module-swapping work.

+ Despite FTAI's 2026 guidance for improved FCF, which investors require in an aerospace aftermarket
business, FTAl's financial profile looks like that of other leasing businesses.

+ We believe FTAI's profile will continue to mirror that of a leasing business.
- Generally, leasing companies trade on a P/BV and/or a P/E basis,! and have the following features:

- Highly capital intensive %
- Cyclical «

- Volatile eamings \
- Low growth Q
- Subpar ROIC %

*
" Per JPM's coverage of Aercap, May 8, 2024: “Acoondingly. cur YE24 equily price targat is ifbed to 5105, predicaied on a blend of 1.1x BY and 10 ard PG

MUIDOY WATERE REZEARCH ar

32. The Muddy Waters Report continues, %&g‘me measures the Company has
0

taken to prop up this scheme, and further alligg@: mpany is “[m]isleading investors by
presenting whole engine sales as individualimodule sales” by “deceptively count[ing] each whole
engine sale as a sale of three se %m ules” in order to report substantially higher module sale

numbers than would otherfwi reported and create “Module Factory numbers [which] are much

higher than wha?g[customer demand for the Factory] is.” Specifically, the Muddy Waters

Repo@s, elevant part:
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A Substantial Portion of
Aerospace Products’ Revenue
Is Whole Engine Sales

We Believe FTAI Is Selling Whole Engines and Telling Investors it
Sold Three Modules. This Helps FTAI Sell Investors on an \e\
Aerospace Aftermarket Story. «

MRS WATERS RESEARCH * * Q\O 12
?s
)

Evidence Whole Engine Sales Are Malga

ul DD
WATERS

RESEARCH

CFM56 engines are commonly thought of a ning three modules: the Fan, the Core, and the Low-
Pressure Turbine (LPT). FTAl also reports engines as being in three modules. !
FTAlI's GAAP financials indicate t engine sales are a material contributor to FTAI's AP segment:
= FTAI's revenue and EE!IT ployee are significant outliers vs peers (~3x and ~7x, higher,
respectively).
= FTAI generat in GAAP revenue per module sold, compared to the sticker price a
customer wo off the-rack module (~£700k - ~%1.5m).
We spoke with a % nior FTAI executive who believes that ~80% of the reported module swaps are
actually who sales.
Wee a e r former FTAl executive to canvass the major aftermarket traders in the industry.
seari:h determined that approximately 1/3 of FTAl's YTD 2024 Aerospace Products revenue
nsisted of misreported whole engine sales largely executed via engine exchanges.
%\Anomer industry expert echoed a similar sentiment.
la

nguage in the Q3 2024 10-Q explicitly states that whole engines are now a component of Inventory,
highlighting the materality of whole engines to Aerospace Products.?

1 FTAL Avistlon Investor's Oay Presenmion June 7, 2023, O 2024 Eamings Call Aprl 25, 2024, CEC: "Thiee modwles I3 & wihicke englne” Et alla. *FTAI fwiation 10-0 O3 2024 Pg. 12

WUDOY WATERS RESEARCH 13
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Counting Whole Engine Sales as Modules Sales Was FTAI's Modus
Operandi, According to a Former Senior Employee

ul
VWATERS

RESEARCH

A former FTAI executive explained that while he worked for the company it sold whole engines but
reported such transactions as the sale of three modules:

"And here's the other thing you have to be very cautious about... when they sell an engine,
they're not selling an engine. They're selling [three] modules. So the, The Module Factory
numbers are much higher than what real [customer demand for the Factory] is.” !

Later in the same discussion: %

MW "How do we know that is still happening at the moment?”

Consultant: "Well, I'm no longer there. But | could tell you that was the line of t oug en |
was there...so what I'm suggesting is that that is still happening...there would be More of those
modules [that] would be attributed to engine sales than to true module swaps™!!

*

! Consullart A
Mol FTAI and most indusiry aupars consider & CFMBS anging 1o be a feee-moduls enging (Fan, Core LPT). Consultant A counis tha HPT as an addkional g I=h reging his kil bo four; we slandacdized thi Sgune abowa.

WUDOY WATERS REIEARCH
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RESEARCH

The Misrepresentation of Engine Sal?sgt}nal

Another former FTAI executiv thE same sentiment

Source C: ] think th @b een 60 and 80 engines a year and they report 95% into the
Aerospace busi

Later in the@a onversation, MW asked Source C about the YTD 2024 reported module sales

hat portion of the business that they're doing do you think would be real individual module
\}es and whaole engine exchanges counted as three modules? _”

Source C: "...I think it's 80/20, right. So, | think they do 80 [whole] engine sales a year that
they count as modules."!

1 Sourca G, omer Senior FTAl aaecufva.

SO0V WATERS REIEARCH 17
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After FTAIl Stopped Disclosing Module Sales, Management Still
Pushes the Module Narrative RESEARCH

Q2 20241 Q3 20242
- (224 Total Revenue growth of 164.5% versus 2 2023 + 324 Total Revenue grawth of 155.7% versus 03 2023
| - 82 moautes soia in g2 2024 | [ + Annual Shop Visit Capacity for 1,350 CFMSG Modules |
* Consistently generating Ad). EBITDA margins of between 30% - 40% - Gonsistently generating Ad). EBITDA margins of between 30% - 40%
* 6/30 Engine parts inventary of $373.3mm to suppart backiog « 08,30 Engine parts inventory of $491.0mm to support backlog &

W
MUDOY WATERE REEARCH Q 20

33.  The Muddy Waters Report further alle@ ompany’s “EBITDA margins are a

6 ‘
| FTAl Aviation Eamings Supplement 02 2024, Pg. 9. 4 FTAl Aviation Eamings Supplemant 03 2024, Pg. 9

direct result of its misleading accounting” wh @he Company “depreciates engines in its
Leasing segment, even when engines ot on lease (merely when they are ready for use).”
Allegedly, the Company “[t]h %ans ers the depreciated engines to AP [Aerospace Products]

13

Inventory.” These “hi \ep ation rates in the Leasing segment help AP report lower COGS.
<

Because AP rea%s

other@S ifically, the Muddy Waters Report states, in relevant part:

S

wer COGS, it reports a materially higher gross margin than it would

22
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FTAIl is Deliberately Inflating the Profitability of Aerospace Products

RESEARCH

FTAl depreciales engines in Leasing to boost Aerospace Products’ margin. High depreciation rates in the Leasing segment help AP report lower
COGS. Because AP realizes lower COGS, it reports a malerially higher gross margin than it would otherwise. We believe this explains the significant
difference in EBITDA margin between FTAl and its peers. A major FTAl MRO compelitor remarked about FTAIPs margin profile:

“Something to think about when you're studying them is, kind of, why are their margins so high, and my theory is that their
[Aerospace Products] assetf base is at [the] depreciated book value and that's the cost that gets baked into their margins. ™’

Adj. EBITDA Margins — FTAl vs Peers

Heico ~28%
SAROD Engine Services ~13%

Lufthansa Technik:! 18%
MTU Aero® 17%
GE Commercizal Engines & Servicess 27%
Boeing Global Services? 18%
Average ~30%
FTAI AR, Adj EBITDA, YTD-2024 ~36%
FTAI AP, Adj. EBITDA margin commentary 30% - 40% %

Spune: Compary Minge sxoept ac notsd

" MRD Compafior.
Hokes to table: * Exdudes inlercompany resenuce. 7 2024E EBITDA margin par SAPCapld. ¥ 2023 GE CES figures =[5600 CES op prof® = —B00 DAA) /) 23800 £27 I;’El TOA mamin. * EBIT
margin = FTAI's Asrospace Frodects repo s minkmal DEA allowing for Fils companscn. Per s=il side re Boeing Global Services: *T he engineering o fica ik aintanance business acls 25 an
nternal MAO shop sarvicing Boging and cthar aircraft needs. Wa astimabe that this reprasants about 37 5% of total BES rovanu =

WUDOY WATERS RESEARCH

RESEARCH

ul DD
Q WATERS

FTAI D Eec%tes Engines in
to Exaggerate the
ts in Its MRO Business

TA s Leasing Segment Assumes a Material Portion of
erospace Products’ COGS, Which Explains the ~1,000bps
\/ Discrepancy in EBITDA Margins Vs Peers

WWDOY WATERS RESEARCH 28
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FTAI's Accounting Is Organized to Misleadingly Boost

Aerospace Products’ Margins

AP acquires a used engine,
capitalizing the full cost to Leasing
Equipment even if FTAl purchases

an unserviceable engine always
intended for the MRO'

Analysis value FTAl using a
~20x multiple for FTAI's
Aerospace Products business

1 Par FTAlIR and acoounting, all intact o ngings | servicsab o or unsericeable) are reconded i Leasing Egupmant al incaplion, in ling wikth he gl

Engines are
depreciated when
ready for lease, even
if not on lease, which
Is recorded in Leasing
Equipment

AP sells, or exchanges,
whole enginel sphits into
modules in Inventory, realizing
the COGS of equipment that
was depreciaied in Leasing
prior to being transferred 1o AP
Inventory

vl DD
WATERS

RESEARCH

Engines are moved via noncash
balance sheet transfers to Inventory.
FTAI has wide latilude to estimate
residual values, giving it the benefit of
potentially moving equipment fo
Inventory with artificially low carrying
values

*
it frem hair Audibor.

WWDOY WATERS RESEARCH

*
FTAI's EBITDA Margins Are a Direct Rig Its Misleading

X

ing segment and, we believe, benefit from depreciation while

Accounting

« FTAl's AP EBITDA margins (~3
of AP’s COGS originated in

held in Leasing.

* Aerospace Products + @3
values. Becaus .n\en ry

materially low

ul DD
WATERS

RESEARCH

are not representative of economic reality because ~70%

G5 from the engines it sells on the basis of Inventory carrying
has largely come from depreciated Leasing Equipment, FTAl incurs
space COGS than do its MRO peers.

« FTAl also siderable subjectivity to calculate engine residual values, which can cause
ifferén

material di ces in the values of assets FTAI transfers from Leasing to Inventory.
« THh the consequence of inflating FTAI's EBITDA margins, which are ~ten percentage points
than peers.

« FTAI has also moved Inventory back to Leasing, which could be an effort to again benefit from

Leasing depreciation.

Hoie: Sew Appendix where FTAI noles -B0% of shop visit costs are maierials, which suggest al there is opporbunity far meaningful depreciaion while hald in Leasing Eguipmant.

WUDOY WATERS RESEARCH
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FTAI's Misleading Accounting Results in a ~1,000bps Margin “WATERS
Difference Between FTAI and Peers

RESEARCH

FTAI's Aerospace Products EBITDA
margins are inflated because hundreds of Heico ~26%
millions of cash costs are incurred by the SARO Engine Services 135
Leasing segment rather than in Aerospace S =
Pmd UCTS' MTU Aero® 17T%
GE Commercial Engines & Services? 2T%
Boeing Global Services® 18%

Average %
FTAI AP, Adj. EBITDA margin, YTD-2024 B

FTAI AP, Adj. EBITDA margin commentary

Source: Company flings except as roled

FTAI's Aercspece Froducls reports minimal O8A alcwing for this companson. Per sell skde re Baeing Glcbal 2ervices: "The enginearing modification and sinass acks as an intermal MRO

Maotes to table: 7 Excludes inberoompary mvanue. © Z024E EBMOA margin per SAFCapdl. 12023 GE CES figurns =(5600 CES op prafit + —B00 DEA) 7 23500 = 22 7% EEITOA margin. 1 EBIT margin—
shop sarviong Boeing &nd otmar aFCrat nasts A Estmate that this repreasents about 37.5% of 10l BGE revenue”

UDOY WATERE REZEARCH 3L

34, Finally, the Muddy Waters Report allege %pany has “engag[ed] in channel
stuffing” by selling two aircrafts in Decem . to an intermediary in exchange for a
promissory note. This allowed the C book the value of the promissory note in the
Company’s full year 2023 ﬁnan , when in fact, the Company did not actually sell those

aircrafts to a bona ﬁde ye 11 seven months later, in June 2024. Specifically, the Muddy

Waters Report SQ% relevant part:

v

25



FTAIl Appears to Have Stuffed the Channel to Inflate YE 2023 Numbers

RESEARCH

In the final days of December 2023, FTAI sold two on-lease in-service aircraft, as described below by Cirium for a
promissory note to an intermediary.
Title seems to have been conveyed to the intermediary, Aerolease. But Aerolease did not pay FTAI for the assets
{conveying title was likely a prerequisite to booking the related revenue).!

+ Aerolease reportedly also did not novate the leases per the lessee.!
We understand Aerolease may have received a commission for acting as a “placeholder” buyer. !
The assets were reportedly transferred to Aerolease for ~516m but could have been worth ~$20m, potentially
leaving some room for an Aerolease commission. !
FTAI received a promissory note for this sale (FTAI had a promissory note balance of $102 3m at year-end 2023) 2
Looking for a bonafide buyer, FTAI marketed the assets in 2024.1
When the assets were sold nearly seven months later to a bonafide buyer, FTAl received payment on the promissory
note. At the same time, the leases with the lessee was novated to the buyer.’

+  Given the June 2024 transaction was not disclosed in FTAlI's 2024 asset sales schedule, we believe it was recorde
in Q4 2023 results. '\
See slide 38 to 47 for the supporting documentation. %

July T, 2024. Par Cirum (in it public communications |

Setna iO purchased two A320s on lease with GlobalX from FTAI A@n.‘

 Consulant £. AQroesss COMDOIE walicko borg. JFTAI 2023 90-K pg 62. 7 Link o Cifum communicalians.

MUDOY WATERS REIEARCH @ a

Here is the Title Conveyance, as File e FAA, Between

RESEARCH

Ealow: From F AR Registry, Documant 8LMAZEET .

Setna iQ’s Trustee and UMB Ban%

Ui |80 LU s e Y ARLE FILLIBLS

numbers of the two A320s CROSS REFERENCE - RECORDATION
acquired in June 2024:

UEL CARNILIL

Thes boorwn w00 b ] i comste wehiere @ oo amoe oo crveri| aBORIT Il QA e eI, 8 [P Bibte PRl )
i et oo owecas mid & wogd in ch aiwcid®, (ol issalivoal

+ The FAA registry shows the taili u, OEPARTMENT GF TRANSPORTATION

N281 GX. I\‘I;fll:.:rl; ‘IE.IEILJI"'FLIIH AGREEMEKT J.‘L.:.‘i.l.:‘ll-licll“
+ The seller wa k as s T Lisanes
TTUS‘EE e nVEYEnCE fDr 1|1l|u| ;wI:::nl:l.M HANK ::I:Z:m
N282 x 29GX are recorded THIE FOLLOW %G COLLATERAL 15 COVERLI BY TIL CONYVEVANCE:
ru Cr lhE EBEGX ta| Toeal Arcrad: 3 l Tl Fapines: 4 1 Vetal Progs il Spurs Paria
NIAIGN ARG

n (top right of document). TRV TR R ITI0 CPMIN LSS 77002
V CIMEY CPRS-S P 570840 CHMIN LIS E P ST

RIEAR-2IR (i

WUDOY WATERE RESEARCH 21
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The 2023 FAA Documents Also Provide Evidence of the Lease to Global

Crossing Airlines

The excerpt at night is per Financing
Agreement filed with FAA, Document
ID AREQ152367386.

A 2021 PR notes Global Crossing
leased two A320s aircraft from FTAI in
MNovember 2021.1

The Global Crossing — FTAI lease as
filed with the SEC also notes that UMB

Bank was the lessor.®

il
WATERS

RESEARCH

Ergewtion Versions

SCHEDULEL
FAA AIRCRAFT MORTGAGE AND LEASE SECURITY ASSIGNMENT

MORTGAGE COLLATERAL

“Airframe’ means one (1) Airbus model AT20-214 (shown on the IR as AIRBUS model A330)
aircrafl bearing manufncharer's serial nansber 2851 and U%. Regisiration Mo, NIRIGY),

“Engines” means two (2) CFM International, Iee. model CEM36-5B4/P (shown on the IR & CFM
mnde] CEMS6-5B) aircrafi engines bearing manufacturer’s seriol numbers 577710 and 577712 (each
of which engines bas 550 or mare rated takeoff horsepower or the equivalent thereof).

“Assigned Lease™ means the following:

Alrerafl Lease Agreement dated as of Novensber §, 2021 between UMB Bank, National
s wmner trustee, as lessor, and Global Crossing Adrlines, Inc., ax lessee, which was
Federal Aviation Adminiiration on Febroary 8, 2022 and asigned Convey
supplemenied by the following described instrument:

Mnl’
! |_.grume I_1

Cenificare of Acceplance 113 QUZMHEl i LERI 7558
*

" Glabal Crossing Alrines 2021 PR avalabls hare. *ETAl=Glakal Crossing lease avalabke hons,
MUIDOY WATERS REAEARCH QE , Ty

*

Setna Takes Title in June 2024 to Two In-?@lmmft

Here is evidence of the a
between Setna and ‘v‘

Bank.

In 2024 raﬂ sold with two
CFM56- ines each were still on-
le ebal Crossing

QP

RESEARCH

EXECUTHON VERSION

AIRCRAFT SECURITY AGREEMENT
detec asof | _pa 0 &.m
hemaeen
SETNA AERO LEASE 1, LLC

AND EACH PERSON THAT BECOMES PARTY HERETO BY EXECUTING A
SECURITY AGHREEMENT SUPPLEMENT

w8 Mo pagors
il
VALLEY NATIONAL BANK, is Securiny Trustes
i Worigagee

N RESFECT OF

TWO AIRBUS AX20-214 ATRCRAFT WITH TWO CPMSG-SBUP MODEL ENCGINES EACH

EACH ON LEARE TO GLOBAL CROSSING AIRLINES, INC

WUDOY WATERE RESEARCH
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FTAl's 2024 Aviation Assets Schedule Shows the Setna Sales Must “WATERS
Have Been Booked in 2023, Which Is Highly Questionable

RESEARCH

Aviation Assets - Held in Leasing

Narrowbod
Aircraft
Assets at January 1, 2024 5 91 96
Purchases — 27 27
Sales — (1) (1)
Transfers — (26) (26)
Assets at September 30, 2024 5 91 96

Engines %
Wssets at January 1, 2024 32 235 2 «
Purchases 4 86

Sales (9) (1)

Transfers — (50} % (50)
Assets at September 30, 2024 27 270 A 297
FTAl 10-0 O3 2024, Py 40. Moln: Disciosuna hara axcludes tha salae of Arfram as e V

FTAI Seemingly Used an Intermedi }éuost Year-End 2023 Results
through Questionable Sales O

il
WATERS
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= Our Consultant concluded, aft &edly speaking with a well-placed individual at Aerolease, that
FTAI transferred these assef§ i al days of December 2023 to boost Q4 2023 numbers.!

= Even though title may: ﬁ:’a med, FTAI did not receive cash payment and instead received a
promissory note, whi ed it to book the related revenue.

= FTAl appea ave still been the lessor, as our Consultant also reported that FTAI did not novate the
leases to se. 1

= FTAlIRad 2.3m note receivable on its books at Dec 31 2023,2 implying there could have been other
i ransactions, given this transaction appears to have been worth only ~$20 million.

. ase seemingly had no intention of using these assets (Industry databases do not see Aerolease
\/ registering the assets with the FAA — our Consultant! said the intermediary was “acting as a placeholder”
until a real buyer was interested).

= FTAI appears to have been responsible for finding a bonafide purchaser in 2024.

7 Cansulant A AGnd3se COTDOrabe websila harg. ? FTAI 2023 10-K pg 63.

MD0Y WATERS RESEARCH AT

35. On this news, FTATI’s stock price fell $37.21, or 24.3%, to close at $116.08 per share

on January 15, 2025, on unusually heavy trading volume.

28



CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

36.  Plaintiff brings this action as a class action pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil
Procedure 23(a) and (b)(3) on behalf of a class, consisting of all persons and entities that purchased
or otherwise acquired FTAI securities between July 23, 2024 and January 15, 2025, inclusive , and
who were damaged thereby (the “Class”). Excluded from the Class are Defendants, the officers
and directors of the Company, at all relevant times, members of their immediate families and their
legal representatives, heirs, successors, or assigns, and any entity in which Defendants hay’e ‘or had
a controlling interest.

37.  The members of the Class are so numerous that joinderyof all members is
impracticable. Throughout the Class Period, FTAI’s shares aetiydly traded on the NASDAQ.
While the exact number of Class members is unknowngto\Plaitiff at this time and can only be
ascertained through appropriate discovery, Plaintiff bglieves that there are at least hundreds or
thousands of members in the proposed Cldsse Millions of FTAI shares were traded publicly during
the Class Period on the NASDAQ. Re€cord owners and other members of the Class may be
identified from records mhaintaified by FTAI or its transfer agent and may be notified of the
pendency of this”action by mail, using the form of notice similar to that customarily used in
securities ‘class.actions.

38.  Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the members of the Class as all
nmembers of the Class are similarly affected by Defendants” wrongful conduct in violation of
federal law that is complained of herein.

39.  Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the members of the Class

and has retained counsel competent and experienced in class and securities litigation.
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40. Common questions of law and fact exist as to all members of the Class and
predominate over any questions solely affecting individual members of the Class. Among the
questions of law and fact common to the Class are:

(a) whether the federal securities laws were violated by Defendants’ acts as
alleged herein,;

(b) whether statements made by Defendants to the investing public during the
Class Period omitted and/or misrepresented material facts about the business, operations, and
prospects of FTAI; and

(©) to what extent the members of the Class have sustaifed damages and the
proper measure of damages.

41. A class action is superior to all other availableé methods for the fair and efficient
adjudication of this controversy since joinder of all members is impracticable. Furthermore, as the
damages suffered by individual Class members may be relatively small, the expense and burden
of individual litigation makes it fmpossible for members of the Class to individually redress the
wrongs done to them. Thére wil’be no difficulty in the management of this action as a class action.

UNDISCLOSED ADVERSE FACTS

42 The market for FTAD’s securities was open, well-developed and efficient at all
relevanttimes. As a result of these materially false and/or misleading statements, and/or failures
to disclose, FTAI’s securities traded at artificially inflated prices during the Class Period. Plaintiff
and other members of the Class purchased or otherwise acquired FTAI’s securities relying upon
the integrity of the market price of the Company’s securities and market information relating to
FTAI, and have been damaged thereby.

43.  During the Class Period, Defendants materially misled the investing public, thereby

inflating the price of FTAI’s securities, by publicly issuing false and/or misleading statements
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and/or omitting to disclose material facts necessary to make Defendants’ statements, as set forth
herein, not false and/or misleading. The statements and omissions were materially false and/or
misleading because they failed to disclose material adverse information and/or misrepresented the
truth about FTAI’s business, operations, and prospects as alleged herein.

44, At all relevant times, the material misrepresentations and omissions particularized
in this Complaint directly or proximately caused or were a substantial contributing cause of the
damages sustained by Plaintiff and other members of the Class. As described herein, during the
Class Period, Defendants made or caused to be made a series of materially false ahd/ox misleading
statements about FTAI’s financial well-being and prospects. These materialshisstatements and/or
omissions had the cause and effect of creating in the market an ufitealistically positive assessment
of the Company and its financial well-being and prospeots, thus causing the Company’s securities
to be overvalued and artificially inflated at all relevanttimes. Defendants’ materially false and/or
misleading statements during the Class Petiod resulted in Plaintiff and other members of the Class
purchasing the Company’s secufities at artificially inflated prices, thus causing the damages
complained of herein whén théwtfuth was revealed.

LOSS CAUSATION

45, NDefendants’ wrongful conduct, as alleged herein, directly and proximately caused
the\€eenomic loss suffered by Plaintiff and the Class.

46.  During the Class Period, Plaintiff and the Class purchased FTAI’s securities at
artificially inflated prices and were damaged thereby. The price of the Company’s securities
significantly declined when the misrepresentations made to the market, and/or the information
alleged herein to have been concealed from the market, and/or the effects thereof, were revealed,

causing investors’ losses.
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SCIENTER ALLEGATIONS

47. As alleged herein, Defendants acted with scienter since Defendants knew that the
public documents and statements issued or disseminated in the name of the Company were
materially false and/or misleading; knew that such statements or documents would be issued or
disseminated to the investing public; and knowingly and substantially participated or acquiesced
in the issuance or dissemination of such statements or documents as primary violations of the
federal securities laws. As set forth elsewhere herein in detail, the Individual Defendants By 'irtue
of their receipt of information reflecting the true facts regarding FTAI, their conffol\over, and/or
receipt and/or modification of FTAI’s allegedly materially misleading miSstatements and/or their
associations with the Company which made them privy to copftdential proprietary information
concerning FTAI participated in the fraudulent scheme alleged Herein.

APPLICABILITY OF PRESUMPTION OF RELIANCE

(FRAUD-ON-THE-MARKET DOCTRINE)

48. The market for EFAI’s\securities was open, well-developed and efficient at all
relevant times. As a resultof\thesmaterially false and/or misleading statements and/or failures to
disclose, FTAI’s secufities traded at artificially inflated prices during the Class Period. On
November 2 1, 2024 the Company’s share price closed at a Class Period high of $174.96 per share.
Plaintiffand other members of the Class purchased or otherwise acquired the Company’s securities
relying upon the integrity of the market price of FTAI’s securities and market information relating
to FTAI and have been damaged thereby.

49.  During the Class Period, the artificial inflation of FTAI’s shares was caused by the
material misrepresentations and/or omissions particularized in this Complaint causing the damages
sustained by Plaintiff and other members of the Class. As described herein, during the Class

Period, Defendants made or caused to be made a series of materially false and/or misleading
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statements about FTAI’s business, prospects, and operations. These material misstatements and/or
omissions created an unrealistically positive assessment of FTAI and its business, operations, and
prospects, thus causing the price of the Company’s securities to be artificially inflated at all
relevant times, and when disclosed, negatively affected the value of the Company shares.
Defendants’ materially false and/or misleading statements during the Class Period resulted in
Plaintift and other members of the Class purchasing the Company’s securities at such artificially
inflated prices, and each of them has been damaged as a result.

50. At all relevant times, the market for FTAI’s securities was an efficient market for
the following reasons, among others:

(a) FTAI shares met the requirements for listing\and was listed and actively
traded on the NASDAAQ), a highly efficient and automated.market;

(b) As aregulated issuer, FTARN1led periodic public reports with the SEC and/or
the NASDAQ;

(©) FTAI regulatly c6mmunicated with public investors via established market
communication mechani§ms, nCluding through regular dissemination of press releases on the
national circuits ©f,major newswire services and through other wide-ranging public disclosures,
such as communications with the financial press and other similar reporting services; and/or

(d) FTAI was followed by securities analysts employed by brokerage firms who
wrote reports about the Company, and these reports were distributed to the sales force and certain
customers of their respective brokerage firms. Each of these reports was publicly available and
entered the public marketplace.

51. As a result of the foregoing, the market for FTAI’s securities promptly digested

current information regarding FTAI from all publicly available sources and reflected such
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information in FTAI’s share price. Under these circumstances, all purchasers of FTAI’s securities
during the Class Period suffered similar injury through their purchase of FTAI’s securities at
artificially inflated prices and a presumption of reliance applies.

52. A Class-wide presumption of reliance is also appropriate in this action under the
Supreme Court’s holding in Affiliated Ute Citizens of Utah v. United States, 406 U.S. 128 (1972),
because the Class’s claims are, in large part, grounded on Defendants’ material misstatements
and/or omissions. Because this action involves Defendants’ failure to disclose materijal adyerse
information regarding the Company’s business operations and financial prospeCts=sinformation
that Defendants were obligated to disclose—positive proof of reliance(is#fiot a prerequisite to
recovery. All that is necessary is that the facts withheld be matefial inthe sense that a reasonable
investor might have considered them important in making{investment decisions. Given the
importance of the Class Period material misstatements and omissions set forth above, that
requirement is satisfied here.

NO SAFE HARBOR

53. The statutéry saf€ harbor provided for forward-looking statements under certain
circumstances d€s,n0t apply to any of the allegedly false statements pleaded in this Complaint.
The statements.alleged to be false and misleading herein all relate to then-existing facts and
conditionts. In addition, to the extent certain of the statements alleged to be false may be
characterized as forward looking, they were not identified as “forward-looking statements” when
made and there were no meaningful cautionary statements identifying important factors that could
cause actual results to differ materially from those in the purportedly forward-looking statements.
In the alternative, to the extent that the statutory safe harbor is determined to apply to any forward-
looking statements pleaded herein, Defendants are liable for those false forward-looking

statements because at the time each of those forward-looking statements was made, the speaker
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had actual knowledge that the forward-looking statement was materially false or misleading,
and/or the forward-looking statement was authorized or approved by an executive officer of FTAI
who knew that the statement was false when made.

FIRST CLAIM

Violation of Section 10(b) of The Exchange Act and

Rule 10b-5 Promulgated Thereunder

Against All Defendants
54. Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges each and every allegation contained.abeowvg, as if fully
set forth herein.
55. During the Class Period, Defendants carried out.d@\plan, scheme and course of

conduct which was intended to and, throughout the Class, Pefied, did: (i) deceive the investing
public, including Plaintiff and other Class memberg, asjalleged herein; and (ii) cause Plaintiff and
other members of the Class to purchasg”FTAI’s securities at artificially inflated prices. In
furtherance of this unlawful scheme, planand course of conduct, Defendants, and each defendant,
took the actions set forth hercifl.

56. Defenddnts (i) employed devices, schemes, and artifices to defraud; (i) made
untrue statements of material fact and/or omitted to state material facts necessary to make the
statements not misleading; and (iii) engaged in acts, practices, and a course of business which
opé€rated as a fraud and deceit upon the purchasers of the Company’s securities in an effort to
maintain artificially high market prices for FTAI’s securities in violation of Section 10(b) of the
Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5. All Defendants are sued either as primary participants in the
wrongful and illegal conduct charged herein or as controlling persons as alleged below.

57. Defendants, individually and in concert, directly and indirectly, by the use, means

or instrumentalities of interstate commerce and/or of the mails, engaged and participated in a
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continuous course of conduct to conceal adverse material information about FTAID’s financial well-
being and prospects, as specified herein.

58. Defendants employed devices, schemes and artifices to defraud, while in
possession of material adverse non-public information and engaged in acts, practices, and a course
of conduct as alleged herein in an effort to assure investors of FTAI’s value and performance and
continued substantial growth, which included the making of, or the participation in the making af,
untrue statements of material facts and/or omitting to state material facts necessary imorder ‘to
make the statements made about FTAI and its business operations and future praSpects‘in light of
the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, as set{ fofth*more particularly
herein, and engaged in transactions, practices and a course of buSindss/which operated as a fraud
and deceit upon the purchasers of the Company’s securities\during the Class Period.

59. Each of the Individual Defendants®primary liability and controlling person liability
arises from the following facts: (i) the Individual Defendants were high-level executives and/or
directors at the Company during’the Class Period and members of the Company’s management
team or had control thergof; (W) each of these defendants, by virtue of their responsibilities and
activities as a sedior officer and/or director of the Company, was privy to and participated in the
creation, develepment and reporting of the Company’s internal budgets, plans, projections and/or
repQrts; (1i1) each of these defendants enjoyed significant personal contact and familiarity with the
other defendants and was advised of, and had access to, other members of the Company’s
management team, internal reports and other data and information about the Company’s finances,
operations, and sales at all relevant times; and (iv) each of these defendants was aware of the
Company’s dissemination of information to the investing public which they knew and/or recklessly

disregarded was materially false and misleading.
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60. Defendants had actual knowledge of the misrepresentations and/or omissions of
material facts set forth herein, or acted with reckless disregard for the truth in that they failed to
ascertain and to disclose such facts, even though such facts were available to them. Such
defendants’ material misrepresentations and/or omissions were done knowingly or recklessly and
for the purpose and effect of concealing FTAI’s financial well-being and prospects from the
investing public and supporting the artificially inflated price of its securities. As demonstrated by
Defendants’ overstatements and/or misstatements of the Company’s business, operationsafinancial
well-being, and prospects throughout the Class Period, Defendants, if they did nof\liave actual
knowledge of the misrepresentations and/or omissions alleged, were reckles$, in failing to obtain
such knowledge by deliberately refraining from taking those stepsSinecessary to discover whether
those statements were false or misleading.

61. As a result of the disseminationy of/ the materially false and/or misleading
information and/or failure to disclose matéuidl facts, as set forth above, the market price of FTAI’s
securities was artificially inflated during the Class Period. In ignorance of the fact that market
prices of the Company’s Secutitics were artificially inflated, and relying directly or indirectly on
the false and misleading statements made by Defendants, or upon the integrity of the market in
which the'secusities trades, and/or in the absence of material adverse information that was known
to orrecklessly disregarded by Defendants, but not disclosed in public statements by Defendants
during the Class Period, Plaintiff and the other members of the Class acquired FTAI’s securities
during the Class Period at artificially high prices and were damaged thereby.

62. At the time of said misrepresentations and/or omissions, Plaintiff and other
members of the Class were ignorant of their falsity, and believed them to be true. Had Plaintiff

and the other members of the Class and the marketplace known the truth regarding the problems
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that FTAI was experiencing, which were not disclosed by Defendants, Plaintiff and other members
of the Class would not have purchased or otherwise acquired their FTAI securities, or, if they had
acquired such securities during the Class Period, they would not have done so at the artificially
inflated prices which they paid.

63. By virtue of the foregoing, Defendants violated Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act
and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder.

64. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ wrongful conduct, Plaintiff and the
other members of the Class suffered damages in connection with their respectigepurchases and
sales of the Company’s securities during the Class Period.

SECOND CLAIM

Violation of Section 20(a) of The Exchange Act

Against the Individual Defendants

65.  Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges each and every allegation contained above as if fully
set forth herein.

66.  Individual Peféndants acted as controlling persons of FTAI within the meaning of
Section 20(a) of the\Exchange Act as alleged herein. By virtue of their high-level positions and
their ownership /and contractual rights, participation in, and/or awareness of the Company’s
opdrations and intimate knowledge of the false financial statements filed by the Company with the
SEC and disseminated to the investing public, Individual Defendants had the power to influence
and control and did influence and control, directly or indirectly, the decision-making of the
Company, including the content and dissemination of the various statements which Plaintiff
contends are false and misleading. Individual Defendants were provided with or had unlimited

access to copies of the Company’s reports, press releases, public filings, and other statements
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alleged by Plaintift to be misleading prior to and/or shortly after these statements were issued and
had the ability to prevent the issuance of the statements or cause the statements to be corrected.

67. In particular, Individual Defendants had direct and supervisory involvement in the
day-to-day operations of the Company and, therefore, had the power to control or influence the
particular transactions giving rise to the securities violations as alleged herein, and exercised the
same.

68. As set forth above, FTAI and Individual Defendants each violated Section\ 0(b)
and Rule 10b-5 by their acts and omissions as alleged in this Complaint. By virtu¢ of théir position
as controlling persons, Individual Defendants are liable pursuant to Section 20(a) of the Exchange
Act. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ wrongful conducty Plaintiff and other members
of the Class suffered damages in connection with theippur€hases of the Company’s securities
during the Class Period.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff ptays fof relief and judgment, as follows:

(a) Determinifg that-this action is a proper class action under Rule 23 of the Federal
Rules of Civil PreCedure;

(b) Awarding compensatory damages in favor of Plaintiff and the other Class members
against all defendants, jointly and severally, for all damages sustained as a result of Defendants’
wrongdoing, in an amount to be proven at trial, including interest thereon;

(©) Awarding Plaintiff and the Class their reasonable costs and expenses incurred in
this action, including counsel fees and expert fees; and

(d) Such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper.

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury.
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Dated: January 2025

GLANCY PRONGAY & MURRAY LLP
Rebecca Dawson

230 Park Ave, Suite 358

New York, New York 10169

Telephone: (212) 682-5340

Facsimile: (212) 884-0988

Email: rdawson@glancylaw.com

Robert V. Prongay
Charles H. Linehan

1925 Century Park East, Suite 2100 %
Los Angeles, CA 90067 6
Telephone: (310) 201-9150

Facsimile: (310) 201-9160 %@

LAW OFFICES OF RD G. SMITH
Howard G. Smit

3070 Bristol Pi kgle 112

Bensale %0

Tele 15) 638-4847
(215) 638-4867

QQ Counsel for Plaintiff
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